

proceedings to enforce this chapter may be brought by the prosecuting attorney of any county affected by the violation on his own motion or at the request of the council.

~~((4))~~ (7) The remedies and penalties in this section, both civil and criminal, shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other penalties and remedies available at law, or in equity, to any person.

NEW SECTION. Sec. 3. This 1979 act is necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, and safety, the support of the state government and its existing public institutions, and shall take effect immediately.

Passed the Senate June 1, 1979.

Passed the House June 1, 1979.

Approved by the Governor June 21, 1979.

Filed in Office of Secretary of State June 21, 1979.

CHAPTER 255

[Engrossed Substitute Senate Bill No. 3008]
SALARIES OF STATE OFFICIALS

AN ACT Relating to salaries of state officials; amending section 43.03.010, chapter 8, Laws of 1965 as last amended by section 1, chapter 318, Laws of 1977 ex. sess. and RCW 43.03.010; amending section 1, chapter 173, Laws of 1941 as last amended by section 2, chapter 3, Laws of 1969 and RCW 44.04.080; amending section 1, chapter 10, Laws of 1959 ex. sess. as last amended by section 2, chapter 157, Laws of 1974 ex. sess. and RCW 44.04.120; amending section 1, chapter 144, Laws of 1953 as last amended by section 2, chapter 318, Laws of 1977 ex. sess. and RCW 2.04.090; amending section 6, chapter 221, Laws of 1969 ex. sess. as last amended by section 3, chapter 318, Laws of 1977 ex. sess. and RCW 2.06.060; amending section 2, chapter 144, Laws of 1953 as last amended by section 4, chapter 318, Laws of 1977 ex. sess. and RCW 2.08.090; amending section 1, chapter 259, Laws of 1957 as last amended by section 1, chapter 156, Laws of 1974 ex. sess. and RCW 2.56.010; amending section 100, chapter 299, Laws of 1961 as last amended by section 5, chapter 318, Laws of 1977 ex. sess. and RCW 3.58.010; amending section 101, chapter 299, Laws of 1961 as last amended by section 1, chapter 95, Laws of 1974 ex. sess. and RCW 3.58.020; making an appropriation; providing an effective date; and declaring an emergency.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of the State of Washington:

Section 1. Section 43.03.010, chapter 8, Laws of 1965 as last amended by section 1, chapter 318, Laws of 1977 ex. sess. and RCW 43.03.010 are each amended to read as follows:

(1) Effective July 1, 1979, the annual salaries of the following named state elected officials shall be: Governor, ~~((fifty-five))~~ fifty-eight thousand nine hundred dollars; lieutenant governor, ~~((twenty-five))~~ twenty-six thousand eight hundred dollars plus a sum equal to 1/260th of the difference between the annual salary of the lieutenant governor and the annual salary of the governor for each day that the lieutenant governor is called upon to perform the duties of the governor by reason of the absence from the state, removal, resignation, death, or disability of the governor; secretary of state,

~~((twenty-seven))~~ twenty-eight thousand nine hundred dollars; state treasurer, ~~((thirty-two))~~ thirty-four thousand ~~((five))~~ eight hundred dollars; state auditor, ~~((thirty-two))~~ thirty-four thousand ~~((five))~~ eight hundred dollars; attorney general, ~~((forty-one))~~ forty-four thousand ~~((two hundred))~~ dollars; superintendent of public instruction, ~~((thirty-seven))~~ forty thousand ~~((four hundred))~~ dollars; commissioner of public lands, ~~((thirty-seven))~~ forty thousand ~~((four hundred))~~ dollars; state insurance commissioner, ~~((thirty-two))~~ thirty-four thousand ~~((five))~~ eight hundred dollars~~(;)~~. Members of the legislature shall receive for their service nine thousand eight hundred dollars per annum, effective January 8, 1979; and in addition, ten cents per mile for travel to and from legislative sessions.

(2) Effective July 1, 1980, the annual salaries of the following named state elected officials shall be: Governor, sixty-three thousand dollars; lieutenant governor, twenty-eight thousand six hundred dollars plus a sum equal to 1/260th of the difference between the annual salary of the lieutenant governor and the annual salary of the governor for each day that the lieutenant governor is called upon to perform the duties of the governor by reason of the absence from the state, removal, resignation, death, or disability of the governor; secretary of state, thirty-one thousand dollars; state treasurer, thirty-seven thousand two hundred dollars; state auditor, thirty-seven thousand two hundred dollars; attorney general, forty-seven thousand one hundred dollars; superintendent of public instruction, forty-two thousand eight hundred dollars; commissioner of public lands, forty-two thousand eight hundred dollars; state insurance commissioner, thirty-seven thousand two hundred dollars. Members of the legislature shall receive for their service eleven thousand two hundred dollars per annum, effective January 12, 1981, twelve thousand dollars per annum effective January 1, 1982, twelve thousand eight hundred fifty dollars effective January 10, 1983, and thirteen thousand seven hundred fifty dollars effective January 1, 1984; and in addition, ten cents per mile for travel to and from legislative sessions.

Sec. 2. Section 1, chapter 173, Laws of 1941 as last amended by section 2, chapter 3, Laws of 1969 and RCW 44.04.080 are each amended to read as follows:

Members of the legislature including the president of the senate shall be paid not to exceed ~~((forty))~~ forty-four dollars per day in lieu of subsistence and lodging during and while attending any legislative session.

Sec. 3. Section 1, chapter 10, Laws of 1959 ex. sess. as last amended by section 2, chapter 157, Laws of 1974 ex. sess. and RCW 44.04.120 are each amended to read as follows:

~~((Each))~~ Except where the provisions of RCW 44.04.080 apply, each member of the senate or house of representatives when serving on official legislative business ~~((during the interim between legislative sessions, or while serving on the legislative budget committee, or any other standing,~~

~~permanent or interim committee, commission, or council of the legislature~~) shall be entitled to receive, in lieu of per diem or any other payment, for each day or major portion thereof in which he is actually engaged in legislative business or business of the committee, commission, or council, notwithstanding any laws to the contrary, ~~((forty dollars per day, plus))~~ an allowance in an amount fixed by the secretary of the senate and chief clerk of the house, respectively, in accordance with applicable rules and resolutions of each body. Such allowance shall be reasonably calculated to reimburse expenses, exclusive of mileage, which are ordinary and necessary in the conduct of legislative business, recognizing cost variances which are encountered in different locales. The allowance authorized shall not exceed the greater of forty-four dollars per day or the maximum daily amount determined under RCW 43.03.050, as now or hereafter amended. In addition, a mileage allowance shall be paid at the rate per mile provided for in RCW 43.03.060, as now or hereafter amended ((per mile)), when authorized by the house, committee, commission, or council of which he is a member and on the business of which he is engaged.

This section shall not apply to any official travel by legislators which is subject to the provisions of Article 2, section 23 of the state Constitution.

Sec. 4. Section 1, chapter 144, Laws of 1953 as last amended by section 2, chapter 318, Laws of 1977 ex. sess. and RCW 2.04.090 are each amended to read as follows:

(1) Each justice of the supreme court shall receive an annual salary of ~~((forty-five))~~ forty-eight thousand two hundred dollars effective July 1, 1979, but no salary warrant shall be issued to any judge of the supreme court until he shall have made and filed with the state treasurer an affidavit that no matter referred to him for opinion or decision has been uncompleted or undecided by him for more than six months.

(2) Each justice of the supreme court shall receive an annual salary of fifty-one thousand five hundred dollars effective July 1, 1980, but no salary warrant shall be issued to any judge of the supreme court until he shall have made and filed with the state treasurer an affidavit that no matter referred to him for opinion or decision has been uncompleted or undecided by him for more than six months.

Sec. 5. Section 6, chapter 221, Laws of 1969 ex. sess. as last amended by section 3, chapter 318, Laws of 1977 ex. sess. and RCW 2.06.060 are each amended to read as follows:

(1) Each judge of the court of appeals shall receive an annual salary of ~~((forty-two))~~ forty-four thousand nine hundred dollars effective July 1, 1979, but no salary warrant shall be issued to any judge until he shall have made and filed with the state treasurer an affidavit that no matter referred to him for opinion or decision has been uncompleted by him for more than three months.

(2) Each judge of the court of appeals shall receive an annual salary of forty-eight thousand one hundred dollars effective July 1, 1980, but no salary warrant shall be issued to any judge until he shall have made and filed with the state treasurer an affidavit that no matter referred to him for opinion or decision has been uncompleted by him for more than three months.

Sec. 6. Section 2, chapter 144, Laws of 1953 as last amended by section 4, chapter 318, Laws of 1977 ex. sess. and RCW 2.08.090 are each amended to read as follows:

[(1)] Each judge of the superior court shall receive an annual salary of ((thirty-nine)) forty-one thousand seven hundred dollars effective July 1, 1979.

(2) Each judge of the superior court shall receive an annual salary of forty-four thousand seven hundred dollars effective July 1, 1980.

Sec. 7. Section 1, chapter 259, Laws of 1957 as last amended by section 1, chapter 156, Laws of 1974 ex. sess. and RCW 2.56.010 are each amended to read as follows:

There shall be a state office to be known as the office of administrator for the courts who shall be appointed by the supreme court of this state from a list of five persons submitted by the governor of the state of Washington, and shall hold office at the pleasure of the appointing power. He shall not be over the age of sixty years at the time of his appointment. He shall receive a salary ((to be fixed by the supreme court not to exceed ninety percent of the salary of a judge of the superior court)) of thirty-seven thousand five hundred dollars effective July 1, 1979, and forty thousand two hundred dollars effective July 1, 1980.

Sec. 8. Section 100, chapter 299, Laws of 1961 as last amended by section 5, chapter 318, Laws of 1977 ex. sess. and RCW 3.58.010 are each amended to read as follows:

The annual salary of each full time justice of the peace shall be ((thirty-three)) thirty-four thousand dollars effective July 1, 1979, and thirty-five thousand dollars effective July 1, 1980: PROVIDED, That in cities having a population in excess of four hundred thousand, the city which pays the salary may increase such salary of its municipal judges to an amount not more than the salary paid the superior court judges in the county in which the court is located: PROVIDED FURTHER, That no full time justice of the peace shall perform any civil marriage between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday: PROVIDED FURTHER, That a member of the legislature whose term of office is partly coextensive with or extends beyond the present term of office of any of the officials whose salary is increased by virtue of the provisions of RCW 43.03.010, 2.04.090, 2.06.060, 2.08.090, and 3.58.010 shall be eligible to be appointed or elected to any of

the offices the salary of which is increased hereby but he shall not be entitled to receive such increased salary until after the expiration of his present term of office and his subsequent election or reelection to the office to which he was appointed or elected respectively during his term of office as legislator.

Sec. 9. Section 101, chapter 299, Laws of 1961 as last amended by section 1, chapter 95, Laws of 1974 ex. sess. and RCW 3.58.020 are each amended to read as follows:

(1) The annual salaries of part time justices of the peace shall be set by the county commissioners in each county in accordance with the minimum and maximum salaries provided in this subsection:

(a) In justice court districts having a population under two thousand five hundred persons, the salary shall be not less than one thousand five hundred dollars nor more than ~~((four))~~ six thousand dollars;

(b) In justice court districts having a population of two thousand five hundred persons or more, but less than five thousand, the salary shall be set at not less than one thousand ~~((two))~~ eight hundred dollars nor more than ~~((five thousand))~~ seven thousand five hundred dollars;

(c) In justice court districts having a population of five thousand persons or more, but less than seven thousand five hundred, the salary shall be set at no less than one thousand ~~((two))~~ eight hundred or more than ~~((six))~~ nine thousand dollars;

(d) In justice court districts having a population of seven thousand five hundred persons or more, but less than ten thousand, the salary shall be set at not less than ~~((one thousand five hundred))~~ two thousand two hundred fifty dollars or more than ~~((seven))~~ ten thousand five hundred dollars;

(e) In justice court districts having a population of ten thousand persons or more, but less than twenty thousand, the salary shall be set at no less than ~~((two))~~ three thousand dollars or more than ~~((nine thousand))~~ thirteen thousand five hundred dollars;

(f) In justice court districts having a population of twenty thousand persons or more, but less than thirty thousand, the salary shall be set at not less than ~~((three thousand five hundred))~~ five thousand two hundred fifty dollars or more than ~~((fifteen thousand))~~ twenty-two thousand five hundred dollars.

NEW SECTION. Sec. 10. There is appropriated from the general fund to the governor for the biennium ending June 30, 1981, the sum of two million dollars, or so much thereof as may be necessary, to carry out the purposes of sections 1 and 4 through 8 of this 1979 act.

NEW SECTION. Sec. 11. This act is necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, and safety, the support of the state

government and its existing public institutions, and shall take effect July 1, 1979.

Passed the Senate June 1, 1979.

Passed the House June 1, 1979.

Approved by the Governor June 21, 1979.

Filed in Office of Secretary of State June 21, 1979.

CHAPTER 256

[Substitute House Bill No. 56]

LOCAL GOVERNMENTS—INSURANCE PURCHASE, SELF-INSURANCE

AN ACT Relating to local government; amending section .01.05, chapter 79, Laws of 1947 as amended by section 1, chapter 13, Laws of 1975-'76 2nd ex. sess. and RCW 48.01.050; and adding new sections to Title 48 RCW.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of the State of Washington:

NEW SECTION. Section 1. The legislature finds that local governmental entities in this state are experiencing a trend of vastly increased insurance premiums for the renewal of identical insurance policies, that fewer insurance carriers are willing to provide local governmental entities with insurance coverage, and that some local governmental entities are unable to obtain desired insurance coverage.

It is the intent of this legislation to clearly provide for the authority of local governmental entities to individually self-insure, purchase individual insurance coverage, and obtain risk management services. It is also the intent of this legislation to grant local governmental entities the maximum flexibility to enter into agreements with each other to provide joint programs, which include programs for the joint purchasing of insurance, joint self-insuring, and joint contracting for or hiring personnel to provide risk management services.

NEW SECTION. Sec. 2. As used in sections 1 through 12 of this act, the term "local governmental entity" shall mean every unit of local government, both general purpose and special purpose, and shall include, but not be limited to, counties, cities, towns, port districts, public utility districts, water districts, sewer districts, school districts, fire protection districts, irrigation districts, metropolitan municipal corporations, conservation districts, and other political subdivisions, governmental subdivisions, municipal corporations, and quasi municipal corporations.

NEW SECTION. Sec. 3. The governing body of any local governmental entity may, as an alternative or in addition to the establishment of a self-insurance fund or the purchasing of insurance, contract for or hire personnel to provide risk management services. Funds made available and funds expended by school districts and educational service districts for the purpose of implementing any provision of sections 1 through 12 of this act